1940

Stella Pelice Gigliotti v. Leopoldo Albergo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE.

It might be convenient to briefly review the undisputed facts as shown from the testimony adduced and from the various exhibits in the case. We summarize the salient points as follows:

1. On August 22, 1927 Felice W. and Maria Gigliotti (not the plaintiff), husband and wife, mortgaged the property to the respondent, Albergo. The mortgage was filed for record and recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Carbon County on August 28, 1927. (Exhibit "A").

Note: Exhibit "A" referred to throughout this brief consists of the file involving the foreclosure action entitled in this court as Case No. 4553, wherein Leopoldo Albergo, the present defendant, was plaintiff and Felice W. Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti, husband and wife, and Rosario Gigliotti, Ross Gigliotti, Shell Oil Company, a corporation, and W. H. Bintz Company, a corporation, were defendants and in which case a decree of foreclosure was entered in favor of Albergo and against the named defendants and which decree was affirmed with some modification by this Court on December 12, 1938 (*Albergo v. Gigliotti, et al.*, 85 Pac. (2d) 107). This decision holds that Rosario or Ross Gigliotti, one and the

same person, had an interest in the property by reason of an existing contract of purchase thereto and which interest and contract prevented him from setting up adversely to the interest of the mortgagee a tax deed acquired from Carbon County.

2. On August 31, 1931, Felice W. Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti, husband and wife, as vendors entered into a contract of sale with Rosario or Ross Gigliotti as purchaser whereby the vendors agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to buy for the consideration therein named the property involved in this controversy and which contract was recorded in the year 1931 in the office of the County Recorder of Carbon County in Book 30, page 270. (Exhibit "A")

3. The appellant in this action, Stella Felice Gigliotti, was married to the Rosario or Ross Gigliotti mentioned above on June 1, 1929 at Davis County, State of Utah (Exhibit "B") and immediately thereafter moved into the property in question where she lived with her husband continuously up to the present time. (Tr. pp. 26-27; Abs. p. 27)

4. The mortgage foreclosure action was commenced on July 18, 1936. A lis pendens was recorded in the office of the County Recorder on the same day. (Exhibit "A")

5. The appellant in the present action, the wife of Rosario or Ross Gigliotti, since June 1, 1929 has been

residing on the property and was not made a party defendant to the foreclosure suit. (Exhibit "A")

6. On July 17, 1936, the day before the commencement of the foreclosure suit, there was made, executed and delivered to the appellant a quit claim deed to the property from Felice W. Gigliotti, Maria Gigliotti and Rosario or Ross Gigliotti as grantors. (Defendant's Exhibit 1, p. 53)

7. The note secured by the mortgage subsequently foreclosed and given by appellant's father-in-law and mother-in-law, Felice W. and Maria Gigliotti, to the respondent, Albergo, was dated August 22, 1927, and due five years after the date or August 22, 1932. (Exhibit "A")

8. The present action was commenced by the filing of a complaint on the 1st day of September, 1939 or more than six years after the note secured by the mortgage in favor of Albergo became due and more than six years after the last payment of either principal or interest thereon. As against the appellant the note and mortgage is barred by the statute of limitations.

9. The respondent, Albergo, has known the appellant, Stella Felice Gigliotti, "since about the time she has been married" to Rosario or Ross Gigliotti. (Tr. pp. 49-95; Abs. p. 64)

Note: As stated above, the evidence shows that the appellant was married to Ross Gigliotti on June 1, 1929 and immediately thereafter moved into possession of the

property involved with her husband where she has remained ever since.

10. The appellant is the mother of two minor children and the "head of the family" as contemplated by the homestead law of this state.

This action is one to quiet title and the complaint (Tr. p. 1; Abs. pp. 1-4) is in the ordinary form for such action and in the main prays that appellant's interest in the property be determined by a decree of Court. By answer and counterclaim (Tr. p. 4; Abs. pp. 4-10) the respondent sets up that he is the owner of the property by reason of the foreclosure proceedings above referred to and the subsequent sale of the property to him by reason thereof and by reason of the fact that the plaintiff, while not made a party to the foreclosure suit, allegedly sat idly by from the time of the commencement of that action until the filing of the present suit without asserting her rights and by reason thereof is estopped from claiming any interest in the property. By way of reply (Tr. p. 20; Abs. pp. 21-25) appellant pleaded the fact that she was not made a party to the foreclosure suit; that she had an interest in the property as the wife of Ross Gigliotti; that she claimed a homestead exemption and that Albergo's present claim, if any, by reason of the note and mortgage in his favor was barred by the statute of limitations.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED UPON.

1. The first assignment of error challenges the sufficiency of respondent's answer and counterclaim as a proper pleading. The gist of appellant's action is that her equity of redemption was not cut off by the foreclosure suit and the answer and counterclaim of the respondent admits that appellant was not made a party defendant to the foreclosure suit and does not affirmatively state any fact that would estop her from now asserting her right or interest to the property involved.

2. Assignments of errors 5 to 16, both inclusive, and assignments 18, 20, 21, inclusive, and assignments 23 to 27, both inclusive all pertain to the theory or subject matter as stated above in paragraph 1. Assignments 2, 3, and 4 are directed to the propriety of rulings of the Court on the introduction of evidence and particularly to the Court's exclusion of testimony which might have developed the fact that Albergo in fact knew that appellant was in possession of the real property and was the wife of Ross Gigliotti before the commencement of his foreclosure proceedings.

3. Assignments 17, 19, 22 and 28 are all directed to specific portions of the Findings of Fact that are claimed not to be supported by, but are contrary to the evidence, and without such findings Albergo would not be entitled to prevail either on his answer or counterclaim.

4. Assignment of error 37, in addition to what has been heretofore stated, points out that appellant is

not only the record owner of the property involved, but that she has an interest therein by reason of her marital status and her claim of homestead exemption; that she did not practice any fraud or deceit or collusion; and that any claim that respondent might have by way of his alleged mortgage is barred by the statute of limitations. Furthermore, and by assignment of error 37, it is pointed out that the Court failed to determine or otherwise fix or define the equity or right of redemption that appellant might have in the real property involved herein.

QUESTIONS INVOLVED.

1. It being conceded that a married man has an interest in real property inferior to the rights of a mortgagee, what effect does a foreclosure have upon the rights of the wife in possession of the property at the time of the foreclosure?
2. Does a wife have the right to assert and have determined in her behalf a homestead exemption without her interest in real property having been previously terminated by contract or foreclosure?
3. Is not Albergo, the respondent, bound by the evidence produced by him on cross examination of appellant to the effect that prior to the foreclosure suit she was occupying the property under claim of title?
4. In an action to quiet title, should not all interests be determined, even though such interests might be less than that of a fee simple title holder?

5. Whether or not the appellant is estopped as claimed by the respondent from asserting any interest in the property in question.

6. Whether or not the appellant has any interest in the property, assuming that she is not estopped to assert the same.

7. Whether or not, assuming the appellant to have an interest in the property, she was a necessary party to the foreclosure suit.

ARGUMENT.

The ultimate question to be determined in the case at bar is the interest, if any, of the appellant in and to the real property described in her complaint on file herein. The complaint is in the ordinary form pertaining to actions to quiet title to real property as contemplated by Title 104, Chapter 57, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933. This chapter enlarges the ancient jurisdiction of courts of equity with respect to suits to quiet title and to determine adverse claims. The first section reads:

“An action may be brought by *any person* against another who claims an estate or interest in real property adverse to *him for the purpose of determining such adverse claim.*” (Italics ours)

Any interest in property and even possession alone is sufficient to maintain the action. See *Wey v. Salt Lake City*, 35 Utah 504, 101 Pac. 381; *Columbia Trust Co.*

v. Nielson, 76 Utah 129, 287 Pac. 926; and *Robins v. Roberts*, 80 Utah 409, 15 Pac. (2d) 340.

The respondent in this action was the purchaser at a sheriff sale on foreclosure of a real estate mortgage of the property involved. It makes no difference in this action that the purchaser was the original mortgagee in the foreclosure proceedings, those proceedings having been introduced in evidence as appellant's Exhibit "A", and in which action the appellant was omitted as a party defendant. It is a fundamental principle of law and one that does not need citation of authorities to the effect that a purchaser at a sheriff's sale on foreclosure is not an innocent purchaser for value, but takes title subject to all apparent rights of parties in possession and the rights of others not made parties to the foreclosure suit who have of record an equity of redemption. In using the term "of record," we mean actual notice of a claimant subsequent to the original mortgagor and also constructive notice of a claim such as is imparted under our law by recording or actual possession under claim of title, either subsequent or prior to the execution of the mortgage.

The general rule with respect to the lack of necessity of intervention is stated in 19 R. C. L. 557, Section 363, in the following language:

"And a wife is not estopped by her mere silence from afterwards asserting her rights, where land in fact belonging to her, but supposed to belong to her husband, is sold under decree

of foreclosure, the wife not having been served in the suit; nor is she to be regarded as having ratified the proceedings by the acceptance of a part of the purchase money of the sale, but in such case must be taken to have acted as the agent of and subject to the control of her husband."

The case cited by the text is that of *Fahie v. Pressey*, 2 Ore. 23, 80 Am. Dec. 401. In this case the holder of the mortgage obtained his decree of foreclosure against the husband only and then after the sale discovered that the title to the property was in the name of the wife, who thereafter set up a claim to the property. The complainant bought the premises at the sale and then filed a bill in equity to foreclose the wife's interest in the property alleging that her interest was merely nominal; that she had full knowledge of all the proceedings and the fact that the property was advertised as that of her husband; that she suffered it to be sold as such and with full knowledge that the property had been so sold received a part of the proceeds of the sale and ratified the same. In this case the complainant, Fahie, was in the same position that the defendant, Albergo, is in in the case at bar. The complainant took the position that equity should relieve him of the consequences of his mistake in not making the wife a party to the foreclosure suit. To this argument the court said:

"A large proportion of the misfortunes of life are not so much attributable to the superior sagacity or overreaching unscrupulousness of one class as to the blind folly and negligence of another. Litigation would never end were courts to

undertake to restore the equilibrium of right between all such parties. To entitle a party to relief in such cases, the facts must not only be material, but must be such that he could not with reasonable diligence have obtained knowledge of them. Where there is neither accident nor mistake, fraud nor misrepresentation, equity affords no relief to a party on the ground that he has lost his remedy at law through mere ignorance of a fact, the knowledge of which might have been obtained by due diligence and inquiry: Willard's Eq. Jur. 70."

As to the contention that Mrs. Pressey was estopped, the court cited the Tenn. case of *Crenshaw v. Anthony*, Mart. & Y. 110, and the case of *Bank of United States v. Lee*, 13 Pet. 107, and the court said:

"In both of these cases, the obligation of the wife to disclose her interest in the property being dealt with by the husband as his own, came directly under review and in both her silence was approved on the express ground of her marital relation; and that she had done no affirmative act to mislead or draw in a creditor to trust her husband. But it is said that Penna Pressey, having notice of all these proceedings, by receiving a part of the proceeds of the sale, ratified it, and it would be a fraud on her part now to gainsay it. It might be answered to this—if it were in connection with other than a legal proceeding—that she must be presumed to have acted as the agent of and subject to the control of her husband. We are of the opinion that she, having no legal notice, had no notice at all, and as to any interest, nominal or real, of hers, the proceedings of the court and the sale under the decree were a nullity. There is no attempt to show that, at the time the deed was made to the wife, the

husband was in debt, and the deed in fraud of creditors; and if he were not, he might well procure a conveyance to her for her separate use, and the law will uphold it until fraud is shown."

As to the necessity of joining the wife in the foreclosure action, the court stated:

"The most important and decisive question remains to be considered. The bill expressly states that, after the sale, the title to the premises sold was found to be in the name of Penna Pressey, who was made a party to the original suit. Was she rightfully joined? If so, then service upon her was a necessity to confer any power on the court to deal with her interest in the controversy. If she were not a necessary party to the suit, and had no interest to bind, although more a party to the bill, the service might be omitted. But it is stated that the legal title was in his wife; nor does it change the result to say that her interest is merely nominal. She being the legal owner of the estate, which by law she might be, the legal title could be divested out of her only in two ways: by her own act and by act of law; that is, the proceeding of a court having competent jurisdiction of the subject of the suit. She, being the legal owner of the property, before any proceeding could affect her interests, nominal or real, must have been made a party to the bill, have been duly served with process, and thus given the opportunity, by legal forms, of showing her rights, whatever they were. Not having been served in the foreclosure suit, the proceedings as to her were a nullity."

In the case at bar Mrs. Gigliotti did nothing affirmatively that would constitute an estoppel on her part. The most that can be said is that knowing of the foreclosure

proceeding she remained silent as to her interest in the property. The Pressey case and the case of *Bank of United States v. Lee*, cited by the Pressey case, states the general rule to the effect that although the wife is silent, her mere silence does not estop her from later disclosing her interest in the property.

17 Am. Jur., Section 80 on the subject of dower does not support the theory that the appellant is estopped at this time to claim any interest in the property. The text clearly states the general law to the effect that no estoppel may be predicted on the mere silence of a widow or a wife.

There is nothing in the record to indicate that Mrs. Gigliotti attempted to deceive or defraud the respondent in any particular. The respondent knew of the marital status between Ross Gigliotti and the appellant in this action. He also knew that the appellant was residing on the property at the time of his foreclosure suit. Mere possession under the circumstances would put the respondent on notice of any claims that Mrs. Gigliotti had in or to the property. He made no inquiry as to her rights in the premises and yet he had constructive notice of them. It would be anomalous indeed if under the circumstances the rule of estoppel would apply. That such a rule does not apply is clearly shown by the authorities indicated above.

The appellant has three separate claims to the property:

First: The appellant is the head of a family, contemplated by Title 28, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, dealing with homesteads. Her reply in the case indicates the claim of homestead upon her part and which claim can be raised at any time. The claim of homestead goes to the right, title and interest of the husband, Ross Gigliotti, in the contract of sale entered into with his parents as sellers and himself as purchaser on the 31st day of August, 1931 and which contract was recorded the same year and long prior to the foreclosure proceeding. The Supreme Court in the case of *Albergo v. Gigliotti, et al.*, supra, held that this contract was a valid and subsisting contract between the parties, with an over-abundance of vitality—so much so that Ross Gigliotti was precluded from claiming the property by reason of a tax deed, which the court will recall was one of the issues raised in the foreclosure suit.

Second: The appellant has an inchoate statutory interest in the property and in the equity represented by the contract of sale above mentioned.

Third: The appellant is the fee simple owner of the property by reason of the quit claim deed executed on the 17th day of July, 1937 from her mother-in-law, father-in-law and husband. This deed was introduced in evidence in the trial of this case by the defendant on cross examination of the plaintiff and its authenticity was never attacked or questioned.

On the last two propositions the following authorities are, we believe, in point:

Wiltsie on Mortgage Foreclosure, Third Edition, Vol. 1. Quoting Section 155, p. 228:

“It has become a settled rule of law in all states where the common-law doctrine of dower remains unchanged, and in many states where statutes have prescribed a wife’s rights in the real estate of her husband, that the inchoate *right of dower of a wife in the lands of her husband is a real and existing interest*, and as much entitled to protection as the vested rights of a widow; *and that neither can be impaired by any judicial proceeding to which the wife or widow is not made a party*. As such rights constitute an interest in real estate, it is plain that a wife or widow must be made a party to a foreclosure suit where she has signed the mortgage, released her rights otherwise, *or acquired those rights subsequent to the execution of the mortgage*. *The right of a wife to be endowed of an equity of redemption has long been put at rest. She is an absolutely necessary party to an action in order to produce such a title as a purchaser at the sale will be compelled to accept.* * * * In those states where the statutes provide for homesteads for the heads of families the wife of the mortgagor of land occupied and claimed by him as a homestead is a necessary party to the foreclosure of the mortgage and to an action of ejectment by the purchaser at the sale thereunder, although the mortgage is given for purchase money. And in those cases where a married man has filed a declaration of homestead on his mortgaged premises, his wife is a necessary party defendant in foreclosure; and if she is not made a party, the purchaser at the foreclosure sale is not entitled to a writ of assistance against her husband.” (Italics ours).

Sloane v. Lucas, et al., 79 Pac. 949, (Wash.)

“Subsequently to the execution of the mortgage, and prior to the bringing of the foreclosure suit, the mortgagors conveyed the mortgaged land to James F. Sloane, who, by the terms of the conveyance, assumed the payment of the mortgage. The said James F. Sloane was at the time the husband of Ida H. Sloane, and the two were husband and wife when the foreclosure suit was brought. Ida H. Sloane was not made a party defendant in the foreclosure suit. Decree of foreclosure was rendered, and the land was sold thereunder to one Henry C. Townsend, who was then the holder of the mortgage. * * *

“The said foreclosure sale was void, within the rule declared by former decisions of this court, for failure to make party defendant the wife who was a member of the community holding the legal title to the land.”

Northwestern Trust Co. v. Ryan,
132 N. W. 202, (Minn.)—Quoting from
p. 203:

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