1941

Stella Pelice Gigliotti v. Leopoldo Albergo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“A liberal construction should be given to the clause of the Virginia statute for the suppression of fraud. This is the well established rule in the construction of the statute of Elizabeth, which the first section of the Virginia statute substantially adopts.

“If A sells, or conveys his lands or slaves to B,

and then produces to another his previous paper title, and obtains credit on the goods or lands, by pledging them for money loaned, he is guilty of fraud; and if the true owner stands by, and does not make his title known, he will be bound to make good the contract, on the principle that he who holds his peace when he ought to have spoken, shall not be heard now that he should be silent. He is deemed, in equity, a party to the fraud."

Sloane v. Lucas, et al., 79 P. 949, (Wash)

There is no question involved in this case as to the knowledge of the mortgagee as to the title of the land. The purchaser had a deed and was, therefore, seised of the property, and of course, his wife should have been made a party defendant.

In the case at bar Ross Gigliotti, the husband of the appellant herein, did not have any deed which showed of record and of which Albergo had knowledge, and the appellant herself had no deed which appeared of record and of which the defendant Albergo had knowledge. Ross Gigliotti had been purchasing a part of the property in question under a contract of sale but he and the sellers, his parents, had abandoned and released one another from said contract, with the knowledge and consent of the appellant as will be more fully discussed hereinafter.

Northwestern Trust Co. v. Ryan, 132 N. W. 202, (Minn):

This case is likewise one in which the title was conveyed to the husband before the foreclosure proceedings were commenced. The mortgage made the husband a party defendant in the case but

failed to include the wife. It is obvious that this case has no application.

Kursheedt, et al., v. Union Dime Savings Inst., 23 N. E. 473, (New York):

The portion of the case quoted by the appellant states that the "right" of dower "attaches on the land when the seisin and the marriage relation are concurrent."

Ross Gigliotti never became seised of the property in question or any part of it prior to the recording of the lis pendens. Appellant is likewise foreclosed from making a claim of inchoate interest in the property because in her complaint she alleges she is the owner of a fee simple title, which is something entirely different from an inchoate interest in real property, the title of which is in her husband and not in herself.

Carlquist v. Coltharp, 248, P. 481, (Utah):

This case does not involve the rights of a married woman. In fact the court speaks of Louise Jensen as Miss Louise Jensen. She had been deeded part of the property in question and her deed had been properly recorded prior to the bringing of the foreclosure action. The case has absolutely no application to the case at bar in any particular.

Boucofski v. Jacobson, 36 U. 165, 104 P. 117,

and

Halloway v. Wetzel, 86 U. 387, 45 P. (2d) 565:

We are at a loss to see how appellant claims

these cases apply.

Appellant did not record any deed to her until February 18, 1939. If she had taken and kept possession of the property Albergo would have been required within the limitation period to bring an action against her for possession or be barred. The note and mortgage were not barred and no attempt is being made here to require her to pay them. Appellant has failed to point out in her brief which section of the statute of limitations applies and why it does so. We are certain that it has no application whatsoever.

On page 19 of appellant's brief she has quoted the following:

42 C. J.,—Mortgages—Section 1567 P. 50:

“If the mortgagor, after the execution of the mortgage, makes a conveyance of the mortgaged property, and the conveyance is not recorded before foreclosure proceedings are commenced, and the mortgagee is not notified of the grantee's interest, by his being in possession or otherwise, such grantee need not be made a defendant, and a judgment against the mortgagor is conclusive against him.”

This is a correct statement of law as we understand it and it completely answers against the plaintiff any claim as to the validity of her unrecorded deed giving her a title superior to Albergo's. He was not notified as to her interest in the property and we will hereinafter discuss appellant's contention that the fact that she was on the property was sufficient to put him on notice.

We will now present our contentions concerning the case in order :

I.

THAT APPELLANT, OR ROSS GIGLIOTTI, ACQUIRED NO RIGHTS SUPERIOR TO RESPONDENT'S BY THE TWO QUIT-CLAIM DEEDS ABOVE MENTIONED BECAUSE BOTH OF SAID QUIT-CLAIM DEEDS WERE RECORDED AFTER THE RECORDING OF THE LIS PENDENS IN THE FORECLOSURE CASE.

Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, Section 104-55-3, provides as follows:

“No person holding a conveyance from or under the mortgagor of the property mortgaged, or having a lien thereon, which conveyance or lien does not appear of record in the proper office at the time of the commencement of the action, need be made a party to such action, and the judgment therein rendered, and the proceedings therein had, are as conclusive against the party holding such unrecorded conveyance or lien as if he had been made a party to the action.”

At the time the lis pendens in the foreclosure action was recorded the property was shown in the name of Felice W. Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti his wife. Said lis pendens was recorded on July 18, 1936. On July 29, 1936, a quit-claim deed dated July 28, 1936, was recorded wherein Felice W. Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti quit-claimed the property in question to Ross Gigliotti and Stella Felice Gigliotti his wife, appellant herein. On February 18, 1939, a quit-claim deed was recorded wherein Rosario Gigliotti, Felice W. Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti, quit-claimed the property in

question to Stella Felice Gigliotti. This deed is claimed to be dated July 17, 1936. These are the only deeds to appellant in this case and the only source of any "fee simple title" in her. Because of the statute above quoted she cannot prevail in this case under either of said deeds.

II.

THAT ALBERGO IS NOT CHARGED WITH NOTICE OF ANY ALLEGED "FEE SIMPLE TITLE" IN APPELLANT BY REASON OF THE FACT THAT SHE WAS LIVING ON THE PREMISES WITH HER HUSBAND, ROSS GIGLIOTTI, ALBERGO HAVING THE RIGHT TO ASSUME THAT SHE WAS ON THE PREMISES MERELY BY REASON OF THE MARTIAL RELATIONSHIP.

**Tiffany on Real Property — (2d) Edition, Vol. 2,
Section 571, at page 2233:**

"That the property is occupied by a married couple would not ordinarily put a purchaser from the husband on inquiry as to the adverse interest in the wife, he having the right to assume that she is on the premises merely by reason of the martial relationship."

Langley v. Pulliam, et al., 162 Ala. 142, 50 So. 365:

"Where a husband conveyed a lot to his wife by deed, which was not recorded, and there was no change of possession, even if the husband and wife, who lived together, afterwards lived on the lot conveyed, it would not afford notice of the wife's rights as against those claiming as bona fide purchasers through the husband.

"Where a husband conveyed a lot to his wife

and executed a mortgage on it, which was assigned before the deed was filed for record, and the lot was purchased at foreclosure after the recording of the deed the purchaser would have been exempt from the effect of notice to the mortgagee of the existence of the wife's title before the mortgage was executed if there had been proof of a consideration paid for the mortgage."

Storz v. Clarke, 221 N. W. 101, 117 Neb. 488:

"Joint occupancy of premises as family home did not impart notice of wife's claim of any interest other than homestead right."

III.

THAT APPELLANT AND HER ATTORNEY ARE BOUND BY THEIR REPRESENTATIONS IN OPEN COURT TO THE EFFECT THAT THEY "ARE NOT CLAIMING UNDER ANY DEED" AND THAT THEY CANNOT AND COULD NOT THEREAFTER, AND AFTER CROSS EXAMINATION, CHANGE THEIR THEORY OF THE CASE AND MAKE A CLAIM UNDER A DEED.

The appellant was the first witness that was called to testify in the case. She and her attorney had apparently changed their minds since the filing of the complaint as to what she should claim as her source of title. She stated in part, as follows:

"I do not personally claim to be the owner of this property. I believe Ross is the owner. I am claiming as Ross's wife." (S. Ab. p. 2)

The plaintiff's attorney stated in open court, as follows:

"We are not claiming under any deed." (Tr. p. 38).

So far as the record showed the only deed to Ross was the one from his parents to him and the appellant herein. She was a grantee in it with him. The deed, however, was recorded after the *lis pendens*, and, of course, would give her no rights. It appeared that the only claim that she could be making would be under the "Release and Contract of Sale" above described.

We cross examined her on the deed that she had caused to be recorded on February 18, 1939, wherein she was the grantee. This was done to show that at that time she was making no claim under said Release and Contract of Sale and as some proof of our contention that said Release and Contract of Sale had been abandoned by the parties to it, with appellant's knowledge and consent. If said deed was actually executed and delivered on July 17, 1936, the day before the foreclosure action was started, it shows conclusively as far as appellant is concerned that prior to the commencement of the foreclosure she was claiming a fee simple title herself and not any right under said Release and Contract of Sale, and bears out our contention that said Release and Contract of Sale had been completely abandoned by the parties to it with her knowledge and consent.

The deed was introduced to explain the conversation and to show that Mrs. Gigliotti was not making any claim under said Release and Contract of Sale.

After said quit-claim deed had been introduced and received into evidence, the appellant was permitted, over Albergo's objections, to amend her reply by addition of the following thereto:

“That on or about the 17 day of July, 1936 Rosario Gigliotti and Felice Gigliotti and Maria Gigliotti conveyed the property in question, by quit-claim deed, to the plaintiff, Stella Felice Gigliotti, as shown by the Defendant’s Exhibit No. 1 heretofore offered and received in evidence in this case.”

This was certainly improper after her statement that she was not claiming under any deed and the statement of her attorney that they were not claiming under any deed. We believe, however, that it constituted an abandonment of any homestead claim as set forth in her reply as the homestead matter was based on her rights because her husband was a purchaser under the “Release and Contract of Sale.” She could not and cannot claim under both as they are entirely inconsistent matters.

IV.

THAT BECAUSE OF THE FACT THAT FELICE W. GIGLIOTTI, MARIA GIGLIOTTI AND ROSS GIGLIOTTI, PRIOR TO THE 11TH DAY OF JULY, 1936, AND WITH THE KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT OF THE SAID STELLA FELICE GIGLIOTTI, ALL REPUDIATED AND ABANDONED SAID “RELEASE AND CONTRACT OF SALE” AND RELEASED ONE ANOTHER FROM LIABILITY UNDER IT, THE APPELLANT HAS NO “INCHOATE INTEREST” IN SAID PROPERTY, AND CANNOT IMPRESS IT WITH A HOMESTEAD CLAIM BECAUSE OF SAID “RELEASE AND CONTRACT OF SALE.”

Finding of Fact No. 18 of the Court is, as follows:

“That the said Rosario Gigliotti defended

said foreclosure action and claimed to be the sole owner of said property because of said quit-claim deed from Carbon County to himself and his parents dated July 11, 1936; that at said trial and in his pleadings he made no claim to any title or interest in and to said property because of said Release and Contract of Sale and claimed solely because of the deeds hereinabove set forth; that said Rosario Gigliotti made said claims, representations, and defended said action in said manner with the full knowledge and consent of the said Stella Felice Gigliotti."

Ross Gigliotti at the trial of the first case in the beginning of the trial denied the existence of said Release and Contract of Sale and admitted it only after Albergo had proven it conclusively against him. Ross Gigliotti claimed that the deed from Carbon County initiated an entirely new source of title and for that reason the lien of the Albergo mortgage was defeated.

Ross Gigliotti had not performed the terms of said Release and Contract of Sale by paying off the Albergo mortgage as he agreed to do in said Release and Contract but in the attempt to defeat the lien of Albergo's mortgage the property was allowed to go to Carbon County for the purpose of "initiating a new title". And to strengthen the matter the parents of Ross Gigliotti gave him and his wife the quit-claim deed, which was recorded after the lis pendens. These matters alone show that the "Release and Contract of Sale" was abandoned by the parties in question and they all agreed to release one another from liability under it.

The claim that appellant makes that the quit-claim

deed to her alone by the other three Gigliotti's, was prior to the commencement of the foreclosure action, shows that said Release and Contract of Sale was abandoned with her knowledge and consent. She was not a party to said Release and Contract of Sale and it did not provide that title be conveyed to her. She was assisting her husband in attempting to defraud Albergo and took this deed as an added precaution. He was claiming under the deed from Carbon County, and with her knowledge and consent. The appellant and her husband, Ross Gigliotti, conferred with Mr. Gustin from the time the first action was started. Flora Tolman, witness for appellant, testified that she was employed as a secretary in Mr. Gustin's office and concerning the deed to Mrs. Gigliotti recorded on February 18, 1939, and as to Mrs. Gigliotti being in Mr. Gustin's office, as follows:

"The reason why it hadn't been recorded previously is because Mr. Gustin hadn't made up his mind that it should be recorded or not. I know that the deed had been there for considerable time before it was recorded and I am sure that it could have been there as long as a year and it might have been there two years, but I cannot say positively. I remember Mrs. Gigliotti being in the office in July after the suit was started. I don't remember seeing her in the office as far back as the time when I first saw the deed but she may have been. I know she was in the office several times. The suit that I refer to is the foreclosure suit. She came to town with Mr. Gigliotti and she came in the office. (Abs. p. 60 and S. Abs. p. 3).

Mrs. Gigliotti herself testified in part as follows:

"I do not remember the exact date that I delivered the deed to Mr. Gustin but I delivered it to Mr. Gustin at his office. When I went to Salt

Lake to see Mr. Gustin, Ross Gigliotti took me in and he was present during the entire transaction.” (Abs. p. 56)

“I delivered the deed to Mr. Gustin at his office. I don’t remember if it isn’t a fact that Ross Gigliotti delivered it to him.” (S. Abs. p. 2).

This testimony shows conclusively that Mrs. Gigliotti knew what was going on in the first case from the beginning; that she was conspiring with her husband to defeat the lien of Albergo’s mortgage, and that the abandoning of said Release and Contract of Sale and the releasing of all parties thereto from liability was done with her knowledge and consent.

A further fact that said Release and Contract of Sale had been abandoned and the parties thereto released is, that said Contract describes only a part of the property in question, and Ross Gigliotti in case No. 4553 was claiming all of the property under the quit-claim deeds from Carbon County and his parents, and the appellant herein is likewise claiming all of the property and not a part of it.

That a wife can consent that her husband abandon a contract under which she might have some rights is too elementary to require citation of authorities. All rights under the Release and Contract of Sale had gone out of existence and been terminated prior to the commencement of the foreclosure action if appellant’s contention is correct, that a quit-claim deed was made, executed and delivered to her, prior to the time of the commencement of the foreclosure suit. This fact alone precludes her from making a claim of homestead under said Release and Contract of Sale.

Anderson v. Cosman 72 N. W. 523:

“The vendee under a land contract occupied the land, with his family, as a homestead. Owing to his inability to make the required payments, he surrendered the contract to the vendor, who sold and conveyed the land to a third person, and the original vendee leased the premises from this grantee. Held, that by acquiescing in this arrangement, with full knowledge of the facts, the wife of the original vendee abandoned her homestead rights in the land.”

V.

IT IS THE SETTLED LAW OF THIS STATE THAT A WIFE HAS NO “INCHOATE INTEREST” IN LANDS HELD BY HER HUSBAND UNDER AN UNCOMPLETED EXECUTORY CONTRACT OF SALE.

66 A. L. R. 67: Annotation.

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